
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

DALLAS DIVISION 
 

   JACK PALMER, BYRON JONES,  
FRED JONES, IVAN KING, JERRY 
STEVENSON, JR., JAMES JACKSON, 
KENNETH TODD BOSTON, and all others 
similarly situated, 
 

Plaintiffs, 
 
 
V. 
 
SUPERMEDIA INC. f/k/a IDEARC INC., 
SUPERMEDIA LLC, f/k/a IDEARC MEDIA 
LLC, SUPERMEDIA SALES INC. f/k/a 
SUPERMEDIA SALES – WEST INC. f/k/a 
IDEARC MEDIA SALES – WEST INC. 
SUPERMEDIA SERVICES INC., f/k/a 
SUPERMEDIA SALES – WEST INC. f/k/a 
IDEARC MEDIA SALES – WEST INC., 
SUPERMEDIA SERVICES – EAST INC., f/k/a 
IDEARC MEDIA SERVICES – EAST INC., 
f/k/a VERIZON DIRECTORIES SERVICES – 
EAST INC., PETER J. McDONALD,  
SCOTT W. KLEIN, and JOHN DOE NOS. 1-
10, 
 
 

Defendants. 
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CIVIL ACTION NO. __________________ 

 
 
 
 
 

PLAINTIFFS’ COMPLAINT 

Plaintiffs Jack Palmer (“Palmer”), Byron Jones (“B. Jones”), Fred Jones (“F. Jones”), 

Ivan King (“King”), Jerry “JD” Stevenson, Jr. (“Stevenson”), James Jackson (“Jackson”), and 

Kenneth Todd Boston (“Boston”) (collectively “Plaintiffs”) file this Complaint against 

SuperMedia Inc. f/k/a Idearc Inc., SuperMedia LLC f/k/a Idearc Media LLC, SuperMedia Sales 

Inc. f/k/a SuperMedia Sales – West Inc. f/k/a Idearc Media Sales – West Inc., SuperMedia 

Services Inc. f/k/a SuperMedia Services – West Inc. f/k/a Idearc Media Services – West Inc., 
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SuperMedia Services – East Inc., f/k/a Idearc Media Services – East Inc. f/k/a Verizon 

Directories Services – East Inc. (the “corporate Defendants”), Peter J. McDonald (“McDonald”), 

Scott W. Klein (“Klein”), and John Doe Nos. 1-10 (the “individual Defendants”) (collectively 

“Supermedia” or “Defendants”) showing the following: 

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY 

1. This is a lawsuit to recover unpaid overtime wages under the federal Fair Labor 

Standards Act (“FLSA”), 29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq., on behalf of inside salespersons for 

Defendants. 

2. Supermedia Inc. is a publicly traded company that primarily sells print and online 

advertising to small and medium sized businesses.  According to its most recent Form 10-K 

filing, it is “one of the largest yellow pages directory publishers in the United States as measured 

by revenue.”  It also offers “online advertising solutions.”  In addition, according to its most 

recent Form 10-Q filing, it is “the official publisher of Verizon Communications, Inc. 

(“Verizon”) print directories in which Verizon is currently the incumbent local telephone 

exchange carrier.”  It also sells direct mail advertising solutions to its customers. 

3. As of December 31, 2010, Supermedia Inc. reported approximately 464,000 

clients. 

4. The other corporate Defendants are affiliated companies or subsidiaries of 

Supermedia Inc. 

5. The individual Defendants are the current and former Chief Executive Officers of 

the corporate Defendants in the three-year time period before the filing of this lawsuit.  They are 

employers under 29 U.S.C. § 203(d) (“‘Employer’ includes … anyone acting in the capacity of 

officer or agent of such labor organization”).  They are being sued for the period of time within 
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the three years prior to the filing of this lawsuit in which they served as an “officer or agent” for 

the corporate Defendants. 

6. In the three years prior to the filing of this lawsuit, Defendants employed 

hundreds of current and former non-exempt inside sales employees (“the putative class 

members”).  Their primary duty was to sell advertising.  Included within the putative class are 

approximately 234 inside sales employees who will be losing their jobs at a call center located at 

5601 Executive Drive in Irving, Texas, on or about July 11, 2011. 

7. Defendants failed to comply with the FLSA in a very fundamental way:  

Defendants failed to include commissions earned by Plaintiffs and the putative class members in 

their regular rate of pay, shortchanging the amount owed to them under the FLSA.   

8. Accordingly, Defendants did not pay Plaintiffs and the putative class members 

one and one half times the regular rate of pay for hours worked over 40 in a workweek.  

THE PARTIES, JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

9. Palmer is a former employee of Defendants and is a natural person who resides in 

Dallas County, Texas.  He has standing to file this lawsuit.  He primarily worked for Defendants 

at their call center in Irving, Texas from approximately September 22, 2008, through 

approximately June 22, 2011. 

10. B. Jones is a former employee of Defendants and is a natural person who resides 

in Collin County, Texas.  He has standing to file this lawsuit.  He primarily worked at the Irving 

call center noted above from approximately January 2010 through approximately December 20, 

2010. 

11. F. Jones is a former employee of Defendants and is a natural person who resides 

in Collin County, Texas.  He has standing to file this lawsuit.  He primarily worked at the Irving 

call center noted above from approximately November 2008 through approximately May 2010. 
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12. King is a former employee of Defendants and is a natural person who resides in 

Denton County, Texas.  He has standing to file this lawsuit.  He primarily worked at the Irving 

call center noted above from approximately November 2008 through approximately February 

2010. 

13. Stevenson is a former employee of Defendants and is a natural person who resides 

in Dallas County, Texas.  He has standing to file this lawsuit.  He primarily worked at the Irving 

call center noted above from approximately November 2008 through approximately September 

2009. 

14. Jackson is a former employee of Defendants and is a natural person who resides 

in Dallas County, Texas.  He has standing to file this lawsuit.  He primarily worked at the Irving 

call center noted above from approximately March 2009 through approximately April 2010. 

15. Boston is a former employee of Defendants and is a natural person who resides in 

Dallas County, Texas.  He has standing to file this lawsuit.  He primarily worked at the Irving 

call center noted above from approximately January 2009 through approximately April 2010.  

(He also worked in an outside sales capacity for the company from approximately April 2010 

through approximately June 2011 – but he is not suing in this lawsuit over the period of time he 

spent performing outside sales). 

16. The putative class members are all current and former inside sales persons who 

are and were employed by Defendants during the three-year period preceding the filing of this 

Complaint.  Like the named Plaintiffs, these persons were and are engaged in interstate 

commerce in performing their duties for Defendants.  All of the putative class members are 

similarly situated to Plaintiffs and to one another, within the meaning of Section 216(b) of the 
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FLSA.  Many if not all of the putative class members performed work for Defendants in the State 

of Texas, including the call center noted above in Irving, Texas. 

17. SuperMedia Inc. is the new name of a publicly traded company previously known 

as Idearc Inc.  According to its February 26, 2010, Form 10-K filing:  “On January 4, 2010, we 

changed our corporate name from Idearc Inc. to SuperMedia Inc.  The new name symbolizes our 

renewed focus on providing outstanding media advertising programs to our clients and 

consumers nationwide through our SuperYellowPages®, Superpages.com®, 

SuperpagesDirect™, as well as services, such as the SuperGuarantee℠ and SuperTrade 

Exchange® Programs.” 

18. SuperMedia LLC is a related company or subsidiary of SuperMedia Inc.  Similar 

to SuperMedia Inc., SuperMedia LLC used to be known as Idearc Media LLC. 

19. SuperMedia Sales Inc. is a related company or subsidiary of SuperMedia Inc.  

Supermedia Sales Inc. used to be known as SuperMedia Sales – West Inc., Idearc Media Sales – 

West Inc., and Verizon Directories Sales – West Inc. 

20. SuperMedia Services Inc. is a related company or subsidiary of SuperMedia Inc.  

SuperMedia Services Inc. used to be known as SuperMedia Services – West Inc., Idearc Media 

Services – West Inc., and Verizon Directories Services – West Inc. 

21. SuperMedia Services East Inc. is a related company or subsidiary of SuperMedia 

Inc.  SuperMedia Services East Inc. used to be known as Idearc Media Services – East Inc. and 

Verizon Directories Services – East Inc. 

22. The corporate Defendants are all incorporated in Delaware, but have their primary 

place of business in the State of Texas. 
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23. Peter J. McDonald is a resident of Texas, primarily works in the State of Texas, 

and can be served in Texas (the address at which he can be served will not be disclosed in this 

pleading). 

24. Scott W. Klein is a resident of Texas, primarily works in the State of Texas, and 

can be served in Texas (the address at which he can be served will not be disclosed in this 

pleading). 

25. John Doe Nos. 1-10 are currently unknown “officers or agent[s]” of the corporate 

Defendants who may be responsible employers under the FLSA.  29 U.S.C. § 203(d) 

26. The Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants based on both general and 

specific jurisdiction.  For years, Defendants have done business in the State of Texas, and they 

continue to do business in the State of Texas.  

27. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this case based on federal question 

jurisdiction because Plaintiffs base their claim and the claim on behalf of the putative class 

members on federal law, 29 U.S.C. § 201, et seq. 

CONTROLLING LEGAL RULES 

28. The FLSA generally requires that an employer employing an employee for a 

workweek exceeding 40 hours must compensate the employee for hours worked over 40 “at a 

rate not less than one and one-half times the regular rate of pay.”  29 U.S.C. § 207(a)(1). 

29. Plaintiffs were paid either a salary or an hourly rate.  They were also paid 

commissions.  If overtime was paid, it was paid at one and one-half times either the salary or 

hourly rate.  Commissions were not factored into the overtime or “regular rate.” 

30. Failing to include commissions in the regular rate of pay is a blatant violation of 

the FLSA. 
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31. The FLSA defines the “regular rate” as including “all remuneration for 

employment paid to, or on behalf of, the employee … .”   29 U.S.C. § 207(e). 

32. The Supreme Court has described that the term regular rate “obviously means the 

hourly rate actually paid the employee for the normal, non-overtime workweek.”  Bay Ridge v. 

Operating Co. v. Aaron, 334 U.S. 446, 460 (1948) (quoting Walling v. Helmerich & Payne, Inc., 

323 U.S. 37, 40 (1944)).  

33. With a few limited exceptions, all remuneration given to an employee must be 

included in the employee’s regular rate calculation.  29 U.S.C. § 207(e); 29 C.F.R. § 778.108; 

accord Allen v. Board of Pub. Educ. For Bibb Cty., 495 F. 3d 1306, 1311 (11th Cir. 2007); see 

also Johnson v. Big Lots Stores, Inc., 604 F. Supp. 2d 903, 927 (E.D. La. 2009). 

34. Commissions are wages and count as compensable remuneration for purposes of 

calculating an employee’s regular rate.  29 C.F.R. § 778.117.  In its entirety, the regulation reads: 

Commissions (whether based on a percentage of total sales or of sales in excess 
of a specified amount, or on some other formula) are payments for hours worked 
and must be included in the regular rate.  This is true regardless of whether 
the commission is the sole source of the employee’s compensation or is paid 
in addition to a guaranteed salary or hourly rate, or on some other basis, and 
regardless of the method, frequency, or regularity of computing, allocating 
and paying the commission.  It does not matter whether the commission 
earnings are computed daily, weekly, biweekly, semimonthly, monthly, or at 
some other interval.  The fact that the commission is paid on a basis other than 
weekly, and that payment is delayed for a time past the employee’s normal pay 
day or pay period, does not excuse the employer from including this payment in 
the employee’s regular rate. 

(emphasis added) 

35. The Fifth Circuit has determined that the failure to include commissions in the 

calculation of overtime is “in violation of the department regulations defining ‘regular’ and 

overtime pay.”  Donovan v. Grantham, 690 F.2d 453, 457 (5th Cir. 1982). Other courts have 

reached the same conclusion.  Solis v. Tally Young Cosmetics, LLC, No. 09-CV-4804, 2011 WL 
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1240341, at *8 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 4, 2011); Kaiser v. At The Beach, Inc., No. 08-CV-586-TCK-

FHM, 2010 WL 5114729, at *16 (N.D. Okla. Dec. 9, 2010) (“[t]here is no question that 

commissions … must be included when deriving a ‘regular rate’ for purposes of calculating the 

amount of overtime due, in the event that FLSA liability is established”); Powers v. Centennial 

Commc’ns Corp., 679 F. Supp. 2d 918, 921 (N.D. Ind. 2009) (“[s]ince commissions are to be 

included in her regular rate, 29 C.F.R. 778 § 778.117, and overtime”); Haynes v. Singer Co., 

Inc., TCA 79-0892, 1981 WL 2344, at *6 (N.D. Fla. June 19, 1981) (“[c]ommissions are 

considered payments for hours worked and must be included in the regular rate of pay”). 

36. Plaintiffs and the putative class members were not “exempt” from the overtime 

laws.  Their primary duty was making sales from inside a building.  They were not customarily 

and regularly engaged away from the employer’s place of business.  

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

37. Plaintiffs and the putative class members worked for Defendants as inside sales 

persons.  In this role, their primary duty was the selling of advertising.  Many, if not all had the 

title of “media consultant,” but as indicated above, regardless of title, their role was the same -- 

to make sales on behalf of Defendants.  Their primary location for making these sales was from 

inside a building. 

38. Plaintiffs and the putative class members were not customarily and regularly 

engaged away from the employer’s place or places of business. 

39. They were paid both (1) a salary or hourly rate and  (2) commissions on sales. 

40. If they were paid overtime, Defendants paid overtime to Plaintiffs and the 

putative class members by either (1) paying the employee 1.5 times the employee’s hourly rate 

for hours worked over 40 in a workweek or (2) dividing the employee’s annual salary by 2080 
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(52 weeks multiplied by 40 hours a week) to obtain an hourly rate and then paying 1.5 times the 

hourly rate for hours worked over 40 in a workweek. 

41. Defendants failed to factor in commissions into the Plaintiffs’ and putative class 

members’ regular rate of pay.  

FLSA CLAIM FOR OVERTIME PAY 

42. This action is authorized and instituted pursuant to the FLSA.  29 U.S.C. § 201, et 

seq. 

43. All conditions precedent, if any, to this suit, have been fulfilled. 

44. At all material times, Plaintiffs were employees under the FLSA.  29 U.S.C. § 

203(e). 

45. At all material times, the putative class members were similarly situated to the 

Plaintiffs and to each other and were and are employees under the FLSA.  29 U.S.C. § 203(e). 

46. At all material times, Defendants were and are eligible and covered employers 

under the FLSA.  29 U.S.C. § 203(d). 

47. Plaintiffs and the putative class members worked in excess of 40 hours per seven-

day workweek in the three-year period of time preceding the filing of this lawsuit. 

48. At all material times, Plaintiffs and the putative class members were and are 

entitled to overtime compensation at one and one-half times the regular rate of pay.  29 U.S.C. § 

207(a)(1).   

49. The regular rate of pay must include commission payments, for all hours worked 

over 40 in a seven-day workweek.  29 U.S.C. § 207(e); 29 C.F.R. § 778.117. 

50. Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff and putative class members overtime 

compensation and one and one-half times their regular rate of pay for all hours worked over 40 

in a seven-day workweek. 
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51. Defendants failed to include commission payments in the regular rate of pay to 

Plaintiffs. 

52. Defendants failed to include commission payments in the regular rate of pay to 

the putative class members. 

53. Defendants’ violation of the FLSA was and remains willful within the meaning of 

29 U.S.C. § 255(a).  See Singer v. City of Waco, 324 F.3d 813, 821-22 (5th Cir. 2003) (upholding 

a jury finding of willfulness). 

54. Defendants have not made a good faith effort to comply with the requirements of 

29 U.S.C. § 260.  Accordingly, Plaintiffs and the putative class members are entitled to 

liquidated damages. 

55. Where, as here, “the employers’ actions or policies were effectuated on a 

companywide basis, notice may be sent to all similarly situated persons on a companywide 

basis.”  Ryan v. Staff Care, Inc., 497 F. Supp. 2d 820, 825 (N.D. Tex. 2007) (certifying 

nationwide class in FLSA case). 

56. Accordingly, Plaintiffs seek to represent a class under 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) on 

behalf of “all current and former non-exempt salespersons who were employed by Defendants 

and who received commissions during the three-year period preceding the filing of this 

complaint.” 

JURY DEMAND 

57. Plaintiffs demand a jury trial. 

DAMAGES AND PRAYER 

58. Plaintiffs ask that the court issue a summons for Defendants to appear and answer, 

and that Plaintiffs and those persons similarly situated to Plaintiffs be awarded a judgment 

against Defendants for the following: 
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a. Actual damages in the amount of unpaid overtime wages; 

b. Liquidated damages under the FLSA; 

c. Pre-judgment and post-judgment interest; 

d. Court costs; 

e. Reasonable attorneys’ fees; and 

f. All other relief to which Plaintiffs and those similarly situated to Plaintiffs 
are entitled. 

   
 

Respectfully submitted, 
 
  
 
By: s/ Mark J. Oberti    
            Mark J. Oberti 

State Bar No. 00789951 
Edwin Sullivan 
State Bar No. 24003024 
Oberti Sullivan LLP 
723 Main Street, Suite 340 
Houston, Texas  77002 
(713) 401-3555 – Telephone 
(713) 401-3547 – Facsimile 
 
Allen R. Vaught 
Baron & Budd, P.C. 
State Bar No. 24004966 
3102 Oak Lawn Avenue, Suite 110 
Dallas, Texas  75219 
(214) 521-3605 – Telephone 
(214) 520-1191 - Facsimile 
 
ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFFS 
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